IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAMAR BROOKS,		
Appellant,		
v.	Case No.	SC02-538
STATE OF FLORIDA,		
Appellee.		

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0271543
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

	<u>P</u>	<u>AGE</u>
TABLE OF	F CONTENTS	i
TABLE OF	F CITATIONS	iii
PRELIMIN	NARY STATEMENT	1
STATEME	ENT OF THE CASE	1
STATEME	ENT OF THE FACTS	4
SUMMAR	Y OF ARGUMENT	. 10
ARGUMEN	NT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Lamar Z. Brooks, was the defendant below and will be referred to in this brief as either "defendant," "appellant," or by his proper name. The State was the prosecution below and will be referred to as "the State."

References to the 42 volume record on appeal will be as ([vol. no.] R [page no.]).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the second time this case has come before this Court. By way of an Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Okaloosa County on May 23, 1996, the State charged Walker Davis, Jr. and Lamar Brooks with two counts of first-degree murder (1 R 1-2). Brooks was tried, found guilty, and sentenced to death. On appeal, this Court reversed the trial court's judgment and sentence and remanded for a new trial. Brooks v. State, 787 So. 2d 765 (Fla. 2001). Davis was tried separately, found guilty as charged, and sentenced to life in prison for each murder. Davis v. State, 728 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

At the retrial, Brooks filed the following motions that have relevance to this appeal:

- 1. Objection to Standard Instructions on "Premeditated Murder" and Motion for corrected instruction on first-degree murder from premeditated design (25 R 4777). Denied (25 R 4880).
- 2. Motion in Limine in regard to pictures (25 R 4811). Denied (23 R 1121-22).
- 3. Motion to Preclude first-degree felony murder (25 R 4842).

¹ The indictment alleged a premeditated intent and also that the murders were committed during the course of an aggravated child abuse of one of the victims.

- 4. Motion for findings of fact by the jury (25 R 4845).
- 5. Motion for interrogatory guilt phase verdict (25 R 4856).
- 6. Motion for special verdict as to theory of guilty (25 R 4852). Denied (39 R 2317).
- 7. Motion to change venue (25 R 4897).

Brooks proceeded to trial before Judge Jere Tolton, and after the State and defense had presented their cases, the court instructed on the law, and closing arguments made, the jury found the defendant guilty as charged on both counts (27 R 5129).

He proceeded to the penalty phase portion of the trial, but he refused to present any evidence to mitigate a death sentence (41 R 2613). The court questioned him about that decision (27 R 5196-5219). Defense counsel, following the dictates of <u>Koon v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla.1993), presented a list of statutory and nonstatutory mitigation he believed applied to Brooks' case (27 R 5194).

The State relied on the evidence it had presented in the guilt phase of the trial, and on the testimony of several victim impact witnesses. Brooks' lawyer never cross-examined them, nor did he object to the prosecutor's closing argument, and he presented no summation. Accordingly, the jury returned two death recommendations by a vote of 9-3 and 11-1 (27 R 5152).

The court asked for sentencing memorandum from the State and Brooks. The State submitted one detailing the aggravation it believed the court should find and why it should minimize the mitigation that might apply (27 R 5161-5178). Brooks' lawyer filed no similar document.

The trial judge, after conducting the hearing mandated by <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993), followed those verdicts and sentenced the defendant to death. Justifying that punishment, it found in aggravation:

1. As to Rachel Carson:

- a. Prior conviction for another capital felony, i.e., the contemporaneous murder of Alexis Stuart.
- b. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner.
- c. The murder was committed for pecuniary gain.
- d. The murder was committed during the course of an aggravated child abuse.
- e. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

2. As to Alexis Stuart:

- a. Prior conviction for another capital felony, i.e. the contemporaneous murder of Rachel Carson
- b. The murder was committed for pecuniary gain.
- c. The murder was committed during the course of an aggravated child abuse, and the victim was less than 12 years old. (Considered as one aggravator)
- d. The murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated.

(27 R 5250-55)

In mitigation, the court found, as to both murders,

1. Statutory mitigators:

- a. Brooks had no significant criminal history. Little weight.
- b. At the time of the murder, Brooks was 23 years old. Little weight.
- c. The defendant was an accomplice in the capital felony committed by another person, and his participation was relatively minor. Little weight.

2. Nonstatutory mitigators:

- a. Strong family background, participation in community affairs, church, choir, school, and little league, for which he received awards. Little weight.
- b. Brooks's brother died while the defendant was in jail. some weight.
- c. Honorable military service. Little weight.
- d. Brooks has a good character, and has loving relationships with others. Little weight.
- e. Brooks is the father of a 6-year-old child.
- f. The defendant has had good jail conduct. Not considered because Brooks waived it.
- g. Life without parole. Little weight.
- h. Courtroom behavior and demeanor. Some weight.
- i. Church attendance and Christian training. Little weight.
- j. Great potential for rehabilitation. Not proven.
- k. Brooks worked after leaving the army. Little weight.
- 1. Brooks maintains his innocence.

(27 R 5259-62)

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Responding to a 911 call about 10:30 or 11:00 p.m. on Wednesday April 24, 1996, officers with the Crestview Police Department approached a parked car that had its engine running and lights on (34 R 1387, 1395). It had stopped at the end of a dead end street in a ghetto area of Crestview, which had some night clubs and homes nearby, and was about two blocks from the police station (34 R 1135, 1258). People regularly walked the area (33 R 1171).

When the police officers looked inside the car they saw the woman driver slumped over onto the passenger side. They also saw an infant in the rear passenger side of the car

in a child's seat (34 R 1263-64,). Thinking the woman had merely passed out, the officers quickly discovered that 23-year-old Rachel Carson was dead, as was Alexis Stuart, her three-month-old daughter (35 R 1426). Carson had been strangled and stabbed 66-70 times, the fatal wounds being to her neck (33 R 1193-94, 34 R 1202, 1205). Alexis also had several stab wounds, and died from a single stab wound to her heart (34 R 1212-14).

The car had been parked for about two hours. About 10 p.m., Walker Davis (who was limping because he had a cast on his foot (35 R 1436)) and another man, were seen walking quickly along the street the car was parked on (33 R 1143-44, 1149, 1153, 35 R 1512, 1513). Other than that lead, the police initially had little to go on, but within a day they began questioning Walker Davis, Jr. about what he knew about Ms. Carlson (34 R 1279-80). They were both in the Air Force and worked at the hospital on Eglin Air Force Base (34 R 1281). The police also questioned Lamar Brooks, Davis' cousin, who had come to visit him and had been in Crestview since Sunday (34 R 1288, 1293). When asked what he had been doing for the past several days, he told the police that he had gone to town twice, once looking for marijuana (34 R 1290). About 7 p.m. on the night of the murder, he had helped his relative put together a water bed, walked Davis' dog, watched a movie, and then gone to bed (34 R 1290, 1366).² On the other hand, a Melissa Thomas said that Davis and Brooks were at her house near the murder scene about 9 p.m. on the

 $^{^{2}}$ It took about two hours to set up the waterbed and fill it with water (34 R 1367).

night of the murder and had stayed there for 20 minutes (35 R 1525, 1531). During that time, Brooks used her bathroom and telephone. She saw no blood on him, his clothes, or anywhere he had been (35 R 1534). A short while later, the two men apparently went to a nearby credit union where a work acquaintance of Davis' picked them up and drove them back to Davis' house (35 R 1567-73).³

Davis, who was married and had two children at the time,⁴ never mentioned that he knew Carlson (34 R 1292, 1357). Carlson, on the other hand, not only knew Davis, but claimed that Alexis was his child (35 R 1410), which was untrue (38 R 2049). Davis also denied the infant was his (35 R 1458). Nevertheless, as early as December 1995, he had inquired about buying an insurance policy for Alexis, and in February 1996, he purchased one worth \$100,000 with him as the primary beneficiary and Rachel Carlson as the contingent beneficiary (35 R 1500-1501).

Brooks, when questioned, told the police that an Army buddy, whom he identified only as Mark, had come with him and Davis from a weekend trip to Atlanta (35 R 1455). With some other information provided by the defendant, the police eventually identified Mark as Mark Gilliam, a soldier stationed at Ft. Benning, Georgia (36 R 1698).

³ Davis had also used the telephone while at Thomas's home (35 R 1527),

⁴ His wife and children were out of town (34 R 1354).

Gilliam provided some of the most incriminating testimony against Brooks, but it was also some of the most heavily impeached-by the prosecutor as well as the defense. At the retrial, he said he had met his old friend in Atlanta on the weekend of April 21-22, 1996. After partying there, he, Brooks, Davis, and others came to Crestview on Sunday evening and stayed in Davis' apartment (36 R 1621-22).

Early the next morning a woman banged on Davis' door, and she was angry (36 R 1625). Gilliam was too drunk to get up, but Davis later told him that "this girl kept pestering him about a stereo he owed money for," and that upset him (36 R 1629). He said she should be choked, but Brooks said, "nah you should just shoot her," and Gilliam added "nah, shooting would be too messy. You should just stab her." (36 R 1631) For Gilliam they were only joking (36 R 1632), but later on Monday evening, Davis and Brooks approached him, and each offered him \$500 if he would drive a car so they could kill the girl. Davis told him that he would pay Brooks ten thousand dollars to kill her (36 R 1634), would provide the shotgun Brooks would use, and would also get some latex gloves so no fingerprints would be left (36 R 1640-42). Davis promised Gilliam that he would provide falsified medical records to explain his absence from work (36 R 1647).

Accordingly, Walker Davis got Rachel Carlson to come to his house on Monday evening (36 R 1651). He got in her car, and Gilliam and Brooks followed in the former's vehicle (36 R 1656). She sped away. In fact, she was speeding, and soon a police car had pulled her over and given her a ticket (37 R 1817-19). Gilliam drove past but circled back

and stopped behind the two cars (36 R 1657). Another police car pulled behind Gilliam. Brooks, according to Gilliam, said he was going to "have to shoot them," but Gilliam told Brooks to put the shotgun away (36 R 1659). He did, and the officer asked why Gilliam had pulled behind Carlson and the other police car. He said that the light from his gear shifter had gone out (36 R 1663). The officer gave him a warning ticket and let them go (36 R 1665, 37 R 1831, 1844). Scared, Gilliam returned to Davis' apartment, and when Davis showed up Gilliam said he was leaving the next day (36 R 1670). He did not.

Instead, he went to bed and woke up the next afternoon, and just hung around (36 R 1672). According to Gilliam, Davis had a dentist appointment in the morning, but when he returned, he and Brooks said they should "try it again." (36 R 1673) Although he did not want to, Gilliam eventually gave in (36 R 1675).

But, they failed again. This time Gilliam simply lost Carlson's car, and went to the place they had agreed they would commit the homicide and waited (36 R 1679-80). Davis never showed up, and after a while Brooks and Gilliam returned to Davis's house (36 R 1681). When Davis came home some time later, Gilliam said "I'm out of here. I'm leaving tomorrow." (36 R 1682) And he did, but not before getting the promised, falsified papers saying that he had been in an accident (36 R 1684).

⁵ That document proved unsatisfactory, and Gilliam was eventually punished for being absent without leave (36 R 1692).

When the police eventually questioned him about the double homicide, he initially told them nothing, but when threatened with criminal charges, he loosened up a bit (36 R 1701). But only a bit, and at the retrial he admitted that he had "left out some parts" when he had testified at Brooks's first trial (36 R 1701, 1722) Specifically, he omitted that he had "helped attempt their murder two nights in a row," and said, instead that they had "just hung out." (36 R 1701) As a result, the State charged him with four counts of perjury for the testimony he had given in 1997 and 1998 (36 R 1722). Indeed, as the prosecutor brought out, "the truth is that in one way or the other, every statement you gave before November 18, 1998, contained a lie." He had "always lied about this case." (36 R 1778, 1799)⁷

Also, after the murder, and after the police had arrested Davis, they took him to a hospital to have his leg cast removed. When it was cut off, two pieces of paper fell out, which the police seized, and which the prosecution introduced at trial (37 R 1898-99).8

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

ISSUE I. In <u>Brooks I</u>, this Court found the trial court had reversibly error when it allowed Steve Mantheny, an insurance agent, and other witnesses to testify about what Walker Davis had said and done that showed his intention to kill Rachel Carlson and Alexis

⁶ Brooks also impeached his testimony at the retrial with his deposition given three months before the retrial (36 R 1777).

⁷ The original trial began on March 23, 1998 and ended on April 10, 1998.

⁸ State Exhibits 36A and 36B (35 R 1599) (Appendix A).

Stuart. In the retrial, the court let the prosecutor call Mantheny but for the limited purpose of establishing a source for the money he had promised to pay Brooks. Despite that limited relevance, the State immediately used the evidence of the insurance policy to establish Davis' motive and intent, and by doing so, Brooks's criminal intent. Yet, this Court in Brooks I had specifically said that the State could not use the statements Davis made outside the conspiracy to show the defendant's criminal mind. In the retrial it did so, and because it did, this Court must reverse for another yet another trial.

ISSUE II. The court, over defense objection, allowed a worker at the Department of Revenue to testify that someone claiming to be Rachel Carlson called her inquiring about getting child support from Walker Davis. That evidence had no relevance to Brooks. It also had no relevance to Davis because the State never showed that Davis knew about the inquiry. It also had no pertinence to this case because the State never established that the worker recognized the voice as belonging to Rachel Carlson.

ISSUE III. Sometime after his arrest, Walker Davis had his leg cast removed. When cut off, two pieces of paper fell out, the police seized them, and eventually the State offered them against Brooks. They had no relevance to Brooks' case because the State never proved when they were written, who wrote them, or if Brooks knew of them. For all the State showed, they could have been written by anyone, months before the murders, or minutes before the cast was removed.

ISSUE IV. At trial, the State called Melissa Thomas who said that sometime during the evening of April 24, 1996, Walker Davis and Brooks came to her house. When the prosecutor asked her if Davis had changed his clothes at her house, she said she could not remember. Unsatisfied with that response, it later called a police investigator who said that she had told him that Brooks had changed from wearing running pants to shorts. Brooks objected because Thomas' "I don't remember" response did not directly conflict with what she had told the investigator. Compounding this error, the State then used its impeaching evidence for substantive purposes, i.e., that Brooks had changed his clothes at Thomas' house, during its closing argument.

ISSUE V. The court admitted, over defense objection, the testimony of Mark Gilliam that during the first failed effort to kill Carlson, a police officer had stopped her for speeding. Gilliam and Brooks, riding in his car, pulled behind Carlson's car, and within a short time another police officer stopped. Brooks, according to Gilliam said he was going to shoot this officer because he could not go back to jail. The court should have excluded that evidence because it had no relevance to proving Brooks's state of mind to kill Carlson and Stuart. Indeed, it showed only his bad character as one who would kill anyone who could send him to jail. Additionally, because the state had little need of this evidence to establish Brooks' intent or consciousness of guilt, the prejudicial impact of this evidence substantially outweighed its marginal relevance.

ISSUE VI. The State's closing argument was riddled with improper comments: (1) It claimed that Brooks' failure to mention he knew nothing about any insurance policy could be used against him. That improperly shifted the State's burden of proof onto the defendant. (2) It argued that whatever Davis had done could be imputed Brooks. That was incorrect, as this Court had said in <u>Brooks I.</u> (3) It created "strawman" defenses and then argued why the jury should ignore them. Such argument may have led the jury to believe Brooks had some burden of proving his innocence. (4) It also used the word "alibi," even though Brooks never claimed an alibi defense. Again, the State's use of that word may have led the jury to have expected Brooks to have produced an alibi, and then to use his silence when he did not against him.

ISSUE VII. Mark Gilliam testified about the planning of the murders, and his testimony of what Brooks and Davis said was admissible under the co-conspirator rationale that excepts statements made by conspirators during and in furtherance of some conspiracy, as permitted by Section 90.803(18)(e), Florida Statutes (1997). That section also requires the court, at defense request, to instruct the jury that before they can consider the hearsay, it must find the conspiracy established by independent evidence. Brooks requested the instruction, but the court refused to give it, accepting the State's argument that the hearsay itself could prove the conspiracy. That was wrong, as this Court has held.

ISSUE VIII. Twice the State mentioned or referred to Brooks' first trial. That it did

so was wrong, and the trial court erred in refusing the defendant's motions for mistrial. For a jury to know that another jury had previously heard the evidence and found Brooks guilty beyond a reasonable doubt is, as this Court has said, devastating and reason enough for a new trial.

ISSUE IX Before trial, and before the jury was sworn, Brooks asked the court to move his trial. As evident by the numerous cause challenges granted, and the extensive hearing into juror misconduct conducted during the voir dire, the venire simply could not produce 12 people who could fairly try the defendant. The totality of the circumstances, including the shocking facts of this case, the persistent memory of the community about it, and the State's inherently weak evidence of Brooks' guilt, compel the conclusion that the court should have moved the trial to another locale outside of Okaloosa County.

ISSUE X The trial court found that Brooks deserved a death sentence even though Walker Davis, a co-defendant, had received life because the former was the actual killer. There is no competent substantial evidence Brooks rather than Davis murdered Rachel Carlson and Alexis Stuart. Even if so, Davis' culpability, as demonstrated by his long term planning for the murder, his instigation of the plot to murder, and his insistence that the conspirators complete what they had started, showed that he had at least an equal culpability with Brooks for these killings. The defendant's death sentence, therefore is disproportionate because Davis received a life sentence.

ISSUE XI. The State charged Brooks with committing two first-degree felony murders, the underlying felony being aggravated child abuse. Problems rise from the fact that the aggravated child abuse -- the stabbings -- also became the murder. That is, the stabbing was both the aggravated child abuse and cause of the homicide. The little used merger doctrine, however, should have prevented that result. If not, then other decisions by this Court that reduced the first-degree murder convictions for children to second-degree murder were wrongly decided. Also, any death of a child that might be a manslaughter or third-degree murder would automatically become a first-degree murder.

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