IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAMAR BROOKS,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC02-538

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLIE CRIST ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

- 50 -

reach a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise. Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377, 383 (Fla.1994).

Here, the prosecutor never argued that Brooks should have presented a defense. Rather, the prosecutor was rebutting any possible suggestion that Brooks did not know about the insurance policy. Moreover, this claim is rather disingenuous given that appellate counsel asserts this exact claim as error on appeal. Obviously, such a suggestion is being made by Brooks.¹⁸

The prosecutor's closing being sandwiched between defense counsel's two opportunities to argue to the jury accounts for the prosecutor rebutting all possible defenses. There is nothing improper about a prosecutor pointing out that the defendant has no defense or that the defendant presented nothing to rebut the State's case. IB at 51. *Lawrence v. State*, 831 So.2d 121, 135 (Fla. 2002)(rejecting claim that prosecutor's repeated use of the word "uncontroverted" during closing argument was a comment on his failure to testify and shifted the burden of proof).

Brooks next complains that the prosecutor in closing argued that Brooks was responsible for Davis' actions under the law of principals in violation of *Brooks I*. Appellate counsel is confusing limits in the admission of hearsay statements with the actions of principals. The prosecutor may properly argue the later regardless of the limits of the co-conspirator hearsay exception. The law of principals concerns actions, not hearsay

 $^{^{18}}$ If, as appellate counsel asserts, this argument defies logic, then defense counsel could have easily pointed this out to the jury in his final closing. IB at n.17

statement. The prosecutor's closing argument properly drew this distinction and therefore, was perfectly proper. (40 2435-2436). Thus, the trial court properly overruled these objections.

<u>Harmless error</u>

The error, if any, is harmless. *Conahan v. State*, No. SC00-170 (Fla. January 16, 2003)(finding prosecutor's comment in opening to be error but harmless). None of these arguments vitiate the entire trial. *Woodel v. State*, 804 So.2d 316, 323 (Fla. 2001)(citing *Duest v. State*, 462 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla.1985)).

ISSUE VII

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY REFUSING TO GIVE AN INDEPENDENT CONSPIRACY JURY INSTRUCTION? (Restated)

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in failing to give the jury instruction as required by the co-conspiracy hearsay statute prior to the admission of the conspiracy testimony. The State respectfully disagrees. No such jury instruction was required. The instruction is only required where multiple witnesses are necessary, not, as here, where one witness lays the entire foundation. Furthermore, the error, if any, is harmless because Brooks is not actually challenging the sufficiency of the evidence of the conspiracy. Thus, the trial court properly refused to give the jury instruction.

The trial court's ruling

During Gilliam's testimony establishing the conspiracy, defense counsel requested a jury instruction on co-conspirators prior to the admission of this testimony. (36 1629-1630). The prosecutor argued that the only time the instruction is necessary is when the State attempts to introduce statements before independent proof of the conspiracy is established and because this witness was the independent proof, no jury instruction was necessary. (36 1630). The trial court ruled that it was not going to give the jury instruction at this time. (36 1630).

Preservation

This issue is preserved.

The standard of review

The standard of review is abuse of discretion. James v. State, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997)(noting that a trial court has wide discretion in instructing the jury).

<u>Merits</u>

The hearsay exceptions statute governing co-conspiracy, § 90.803(18)(e), Florida Statutes (2002), provides: Admissions.--A statement that is offered against a party and is:

A statement by a person who was a coconspirator of the party during the course, and in furtherance, of the conspiracy. Upon request of counsel, the court shall instruct the jury that the conspiracy itself and each member's participation in it must be established by independent evidence, either before the introduction of any evidence or before evidence is admitted under this paragraph.

Professor Ehrhardt's treatise on evidence contains a detailed discussion of when the jury instruction for co-conspiracy should be given. He explains that currently in federal courts the old *Apollo* jury instruction¹⁹ has been replaced by *James* hearings²⁰. Federal courts prohibit the giving of any such jury instructions because the determination of admissibility is to be made by the judge, not the jury. CHARLES W. EHRHARDT, FLORIDA EVIDENCE, § 803.18f (2002 ed.). However, he states, due to the explicit language of the statute, Florida still follows *Apollo*.²¹

¹⁹ United States v. Apollo, 476 F.2d 156 (5th Cir.1973).

²⁰ United States v. James, 590 F.2d 575 (5th Cir.1979)(overruling Apollo)

²¹ It is not clear that an *Apollo* instruction is still required in Florida. Several district courts have held that an *Apollo* instruction is still required. *Boyd* v. *State*, 389 So.2d 642, 646 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980)(stating that the Apollo rule "lives on in Florida" because of the express language of Section

90.803(18)(e) which is not included in the federal counterpart); State v. Edwards, 536 So.2d 288 292(Fla. 1st DCA 1988)(holding that an Apollo instruction is still required in Florida citing Boyd); State v. Morales, 460 So.2d 410,413 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (holding, in Florida after the trial court makes a threshold decision to admit hearsay evidence in this type of case, the cautionary Apollo instruction shall be given); Romani v. State, 528 So.2d 15,20, n.11 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988)(stating that the Apollo instruction lives on in Florida by virtue of its inclusion in Florida Evidence Code but noting that other jurisdictions have discontinued the instruction, viewing it as potentially confusing and inconsistent with the role of the judge); See also Romani v. State, 542 So.2d 984, 986 (Fla. 1989) (observing that the Florida Code provides for a jury instruction that each member's participation in the conspiracy must be proved by independent evidence). However, in Saavedra v. State, 421 So.2d 725, 727 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), the Fourth District, relying upon James, pointed out that "the jury plays no role in the decision whether to admit a co-conspirator's declaration." If the jury has no such role, no such jury instruction is necessary. As Judge Learned Hand observed, in United States v. Dennis, 183 F.2d 201 (2d Cir. 1950),

In strict logic these instructions in effect altogether withdrew the declarations from the jury, and it was idle to put them in at all. The law is indeed not wholly clear as to who must decide whether such a declaration may be used; but we think that the better doctrine is that the judge is always to decide, as concededly he generally must, any issues of fact on which the competence of evidence depends, and that, if he decides it to be competent, he is to leave it to the jury to use like any other evidence, without instructing them to consider it as proof only after they too have decided a preliminary issue which alone makes it competent. Indeed, it is a practical impossibility for laymen, and for that matter for most judges, to keep their minds in the isolated compartments that this requires.

Moreover, reading this instruction is contrary to the evidence code provision governing admissibility of evidence. § 90.105, Fla Stat (2002). The Court, not the jury, is to decide preliminary issue of admissibility. Once Florida courts determine that the judge must decide this issue, an *Apollo* instruction was no longer required. Only if the determination Even if an Apollo instruction is required under Florida law, it is only necessary in cases where multiple witnesses are necessary to lay the foundation. As Professor Ehrhardt's explains, an order of proof problem occurs when multiple witnesses are necessary. CHARLES W. EHRHARDT, FLORIDA EVIDENCE, § 803.18f, pg 822 (2002 ed.). Contrary to appellate counsel's argument, this is an order of proof problem and when, as in this case, one witness establishes the entire foundation, no jury instruction is necessary. Thus, the trial court properly refused to give an Apollo instruction.

<u>Harmless error</u>

The error, if any, in failing to give the Apollo instruction was harmless because Brooks does not claim that there was actually insufficient evidence of the conspiracy. Boyd v. State, 389 So.2d 642 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980)(finding no error in the trial judge's refusal to give an Apollo instruction because the defendant was the only defendant in this case and he does not claim that there was insufficient independent evidence of a conspiracy and explaining that under either circumstance, no prejudice results from the failure to give an Apollo instruction because such an instruction in such a case is meaningless and useless citing United States v. Buschman, 527 F.2d 1082 (7th Cir. 1976) and United States v. Moore, 505 F.2d 620 (5th Cir. 1974)).²²

is for the jury to make is such an instruction necessary.

²² This Court concluded that sufficient independent evidence to establish a conspiracy between Gilliam, Davis and Brooks beginning on the Monday evening after their return from

Atlanta in *Brooks I. Brooks v. State*, 787 So.2d 765, 778 (Fla. 2001)(finding based on statements plus latex gloves and a "buck knife" on the speaker of the stereo, not the shotgun and the earlier attempted murder).

ISSUE VIII

DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHERE THE PROSECUTOR MENTIONED TRIAL PREPARATION AND PRIOR TESTIMONY? (Restated)

Brooks contends that the trial court should have granted a mistrial when the prosecutor referred to the previous trial. The State respectfully disagrees. One of the prosecutor references was to trial preparation, not the previous trial itself. Furthermore, the jury was not informed of the result of the prior trial. This jury was never told that a prior jury had convicted Brooks. Moreover, these two references were unintentional and inadvertent. The error, if any, was harmless. Thus, the trial court properly denied the motion for mistrial.

The trial court's ruling

Mark Gilliam testified as to two attempted murders on the victim, one on Monday and one on Tuesday, prior to the actual murder on Wednesday. He admitted that he had not previously disclosed this information during the investigations or during his previous testimony (36 1712-1713). He admitted that in his previous testimony he testified that it was all a joke when, in fact, it was not. (36 1714). He testified that on October 6, 1998 he gave a deposition at the direction of Brooks in which he changed his testimony to that it was all a joke, he never saw the latex gloves, he was not the driver. (36 1716-1719,1721). On October 28, 1998 he testified in Florida, recanting and admitting that he had perjured himself. (36 1721-1722). He testified that there was no plan to murder and that neither he

- 58 -

nor Brooks were offered money. The prosecutor charged Gilliam with four counts of perjury in a capital case. (36 1723). Gilliam then gave a sworn statement to the prosecutor revealing the two attempted murders on Monday and Tuesday. (36 1725). After counsel objected to the prosecutor's question, the prosecutor attempted to rephrase the question and said in trial prep - I'm sorry in 1998. (36 1727). Defense counsel objected because this informed that jury that there was a previous trial and moved for a mistrial. (36 1727). The prosecutor noted that he did not say that a trial happened. The trial court observed that based on the numerous references to previous testimony and trial, any mention of the prior trial was harmless but directed the prosecutor not to say it again. (36 1727). After, the prosecutor assured the trial court that he would not, the trial court denied the motion for mistrial (36 1727).

Defense counsel in his cross referred to Judge Tolton presiding, his being under oath, to being subpoenaed and to committing perjury. (36 1749, 1751,1757, 1756,1769,1771,1776). During the prosecutor's redirect, the prosecutor clarifying one of the earlier questions, Mr. Funk asked you about your testimony in April of '98 - and I may have said March of '98 because that is when the trial began. (36 1783). Defense counsel again objected and moved for a mistrial claiming the comment violated the motion in limine.²³ The trial court denied

²³ Defense counsel filed a motion in limine which, among other things, sought to preclude any reference to the prior guilty verdict by the previous jury on January 8, 2002 just prior to trial. (R. 26 4991).

the motion because of the numerous references to previous testimony hearings, courtrooms and so forth, and mention of a trial was harmless. (36 1783). The trial court directed the prosecutor not to use the word again. Defense counsel argued that harmless error analysis is limited to appellate courts, not trial courts. The trial court noted his disagreement with this observation and his ruling. (36 1784). Defense renewed the motion for mistrial on this basis at the close of the State's case. (39 2268). The prosecutor admitted that he misspoke when he used the phrase trial prep but explained that the two references were inadvertent. (39 2270). The prosecutor characterized them as "slip-ups" (39 2275). The trial court noted that the jury probably concluded that there had been prior proceedings but not an earlier trial. (39 2276)

Preservation

This issue is preserved. Defense counsel objected and moved for a mistrial based on the comments.

The standard of review

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. *Ray v. State*, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); *Zack v. State*, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000); *Cole v. State*, 701 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1997); *Jent v. State*, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1039 (Fla. 1981); *General Elec. Co. v. Joiner*, 522 U.S. 136, 118 S.Ct. 512, 517, 139 L.Ed.2d 508 (1997) (stating that all evidentiary rulings are reviewed for "abuse of discretion").

- 60 -

<u>Merits</u>

In Jackson v. State, 545 So.2d 260 (Fla.1989), the Florida Supreme Court held that references to prior guilty verdicts are improper. The prosecutor asked the defendant if when you were in prison, you weren't awaiting trial; you hadn't been granted a new trial yet, had you and then asked you had been convicted when you were in prison, right and your status was convicted, wasn't it? This Court noted that while the fact that there has been a prior trial was not admissible evidence, many times such references are inadvertently presented to the jury through various means during the course of a second trial. However, the Jackson Court noted that the presentation of evidence of a prior trial was not inadvertent but intentional. The Jackson Court found that error to be harmful because testimony that on a previous occasion another jury listened to the same testimony and believed beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant was guilty of the crime can be devastating.

There is no error in merely referring to a prior trial. Unlike *Jackson*, the prosecutor did not inform the jury that a prior jury had convicted Brooks. Rather, at most the jury knew that there had been a prior trial, not the result of that prior trial. The jury may well have thought that the prior trial ended in a mistrial or a hung jury. Any prejudice that results from references to prior proceedings, results not from the fact of the prior proceedings but from informing the jury that the previous jury convicted the defendant. Furthermore, it is clear from the broken nature of the prosecutor's questions that his

- 61 -

comments were unintentional and inadvertent, just as the prosecutor explained to the trial court.

<u>Harmless error</u>

The error, if any, was harmless. Given the numerous references to prior testimony throughout this trial by numerous witnesses, including Melissa Thomas, the jury would have been aware that there were prior proceedings in this case. The jury was never informed of the results of those prior proceedings and therefore, the error is harmless.

ISSUE IX

DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING THE MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE ? (Restated)

Brooks argues that the trial court erred in denying his motion for change of venue. The State respectfully disagrees. First, this issue is not preserved. Defense counsel did not provide the trial court with the newspaper articles until the State rested. Moreover, Brooks did not use all of his peremptory challenges. He had one remaining. Thus, the trial court properly denied the motion for change of venue.

The trial court's ruling

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